RECEIVED

Jun 20 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

**APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Case No: 2016CP0701466

Benjamin C.P. Sapp, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2023-001394

**DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY,
AS TRUSTEE, FOR NOVASTAR MORTGAGE FUNDING
TRUST, SERIES 2006-5 NOVASTAR HOME EQUITY LOAN
ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-5,
Respondents.**

v.

TERRY LENNETTE GRANT,

Appellant,

APPELLANT'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

By: s/Terry Lennette Grant

Terry Lennette Grant

P O Box 21936

Hilton Head Island, SC 29926

843-301-575

terrygrantseries@gmail.com

Date: June 20, 2025

**Cc: Chad W. Burgess, Esquire

INDEX FOR AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 1 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 1)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Complaint & Summons – Dec. 1, 2009	R.p. 378–386
Complaint & Summons – Apr. 12, 2010	R.p. 367–375
Complaint & Summons June 29, 2016	R.p. 353-364
Foreclosure Judgment – May 28, 2014	R.p. 147–155
Order Vacating Foreclosure – Jan. 14, 2016	R.p. 376–377
Order Reformation of Mortgage – Feb. 7, 2014	R.p. 175–186

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 2 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 2)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Order of Recusal – Judge Dukes	R.p. 103–104
Order of Reference – Special Referee Appointed	R.p. 94–96
Objection to Special Referee Appointment	R.p. 704–731
Transcript of Hearing – May 4, 2023	R.p. 313–345
Transcript Excerpt – May 4, 2023	R.p. 338 (Lines 5, 12–15)
Proposed Orders Submitted – June 5, 2023	R.p. 77–93
Order Granting Foreclosure – June 28, 2023	R.p. 54–76, 18–53
Motion to Reconsider – July 7, 2023	R.p. 738–739
Order Denying Reconsideration – Sept. 1, 2023	R.p. 11–17
Special Referee requested proposed orders	R.p.338 Lines 5-24; R.p. 339 Lines 1-3

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 3 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 3)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Order Denying Motion to Reconsider – Sept. 1, 2023	R.p. 11–17
Notice of Appeal – Sept. 5, 2023	R.p. 734–737

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 4 of the Appellant's Final Brief.**

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 4)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Lawsuit file December 1, 2009 without note or mortgage as law requires	R.p. 378-386
Alleged Note and Mortgaged entered the case much later in 2017	R.p.745-772

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 5 of the Appellant's Final Brief.**

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 5)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Satisfaction of Mortgage April 21, 2004	R.p. 483-485 compare R.p. 780
Assignment of Mortgage - Dec. 2, 2009	R.p. 511
Email Regarding Closing Issues - Sept. 19, 2006	R.p. 472-473
Notice of Dismissal - Feb. 12, 2010 Public Index	R.p. 580
Complaint & Summons - Apr. 12, 2010	R.p. 367-375
Adjustable Rate Rider & Related Docs	R.p. 444-463, 465-470
Notice of Dismissal February 12, 2010	R.p.580
Allonges to Note - June 25, 2012; one not dated	R.p. 166 compare R.p.779

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 6 of the Appellant's Final Brief.**

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 6)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Allonge to Note - June 25, 2012	R.p. 166
Allonge Introduced at Deposition - Jan. 13, 2023	R.p. 779
Order Reforming Mortgage - Feb. 7, 2014	R.p. 175-186
Foreclosure Judgment - May 28, 2014	R.p. 147-174
Order Vacating Judgment - Jan. 14, 2016	R.p. 142-143
Complaint & Summons - Jan. 29, 2016	R.p. 353-362
Respondent's Memo in Support of MSJ - June 22, 2017	R.p. 740-777

Exhibits Submitted with MSJ – June 22, 2017	R.p. 745–773
---	--------------

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 7 of the Appellant’s Final Brief.**

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 7)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Motion to Stay Due to Bankruptcy – Sept. 14, 2018	R.p. 774–777
Order Granting Stay – Sept. 20, 2018	R.p. 131–132
Corrective Assignment of Mortgage – Nov. 9, 2018	R.p. 515–516
Order Restoring Case to Active Docket – May 21, 2020	R.p. 125–127
Order Regarding Mailing Address – May 22, 2018	R.p. 133–135
Clerk’s Notice Violation of Mailing Order	R.p. 667–679
Transcript of Hearing – Aug. 3, 2021	R.p. 351 Lines 6-10

The following Record on Appeal page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on page 8 of the Appellant’s Final Brief.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 8)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Transcript of Hearing – Aug. 3, 2021	R.p. 351 (Lines 6–10)
Foreclosure Judgment Granted – Aug. 6, 2021	R.p. 107–120
Returned Mail Notice to Clerk– Aug. 6, 2021	R.p. 667–668, 678
Notice of Appeal – Sept. 3, 2021	R.p. 733
Remand Order – Oct. 13, 2021	R.p. 797–798
Motion for Relief – Jan. 18, 2022	R.p. 635–642, 644–669
Exhibits to Motion for Relief	R.p. 643
Consent Order Vacating Foreclosure Judgment – May 6, 2022	R.p. 101–102
Motion for Summary Judgment – Sept. 7, 2022	R.p. 405–410

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 9 of the Appellant’s Final Brief.**

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 9)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
------------------------------------	--------------------------------

Respondent's Memo in Opposition & Exhibits	R.p. 519-524, 525-548
Appellant's Reply to Respondent's Opposition	R.p. 549-555
Order of Recusal - Dec. 1, 2022	R.p. 103-104
Respondent's Motion to Reconsider Recusal Order	R.p. 556-559
Appellant's Opposition to Motion to Reconsider	R.p. 560-634
Order Denying Motion to Reconsider - Dec. 7, 2022	R.p. 105-106
Deposition Transcript - William H. Sloan - Jan. 13, 2023	R.p. 199-312; R.p.264 Lines 12-21 & R.p.285 Line 14

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 10 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 10)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Order of Reference - Appointment of Special Referee	R.p. 94-96
Supplement to Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment	R.p. 680-692, 693-703
Objection to Special Referee Appointment	R.p. 704-731
Transcript of Hearing - May 4, 2023	R.p. 313-345;333-335; R.p.338 Lines 8-10
Deposition - William Sloan (Lines 12-21)	R.p. 364 Lines 12-21
Order Granting Foreclosure - June 28, 2023	R.p. 54-76; 18-54

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 11 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 11)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Clerk's Return Entry - Notice Mailing Violation	R.p. 799
Order Denying Motion to Reconsider - Sept. 1, 2023	R.p. 11-17

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 12 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 12)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Order Denying Motion to Stay/Vacate while Appeal Pending Nov. 21, 2023	R.p. 1-7

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 13 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 13)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Complaint & Summons - Dec. 1, 2009	R.p. 378-386
Complaint & Summons - Apr. 12, 2010	R.p. 367-375
Complaint & Summons - June 29, 2016	R.p. 353-364

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 18 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 18)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Complaint & Summons - Dec. 1, 2009	R.p. 378-386
Complaint & Summons - Apr. 12, 2010	R.p. 367-375
Complaint & Summons - June 29, 2016	R.p. 353-367
Adjustable Rate Note September 18, 2006	R.p. 465-470
Prepayment Rider	R.p. 461-462
Adjustable Rate Rider	R.p. 452-460
Assignment of Mortgage - Dec. 2, 2009	R.p. 511
Allonges & Related Docs	R.p. 166-513; 752-778
Allonge Introduced at Deposition Jan 13, 2023 different from on created June 25, 2012	R.p. 779 compare with R.p. 166
Order Reforming Mortgage - Feb. 7, 2014	R.p. 175-186

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 19 of the Appellant's Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 19)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Deposition Transcript - William H. Sloan - Jan. 13, 2023	R.p. 199-312
HUD-1 Settlement Statement	R.p. 440-442

Email Regarding Property/Closing – Sept. 19, 2006	R.p. 472-473
Corrective Assignment of Mortgage – Nov. 9, 2018	R.p. 515-516
Transcript of Hearing – Aug. 3, 2021	R.p. 351 (Lines 6-13)
Transcript of Hearing – Aug. 3, 2021	R.p. 351
Hearing Notes/Transcript Entry No exhibits	R.p. 347

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 21 of the Appellant’s Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 21)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Lawsuit filed December 1, 2009 without Note or Mortgage	R.p.378-386
Allonge to Note June 25,2012	R.p. 166, 513 compare R.p.779
Assignment of Mortgage December 2, 2009	R.p.511

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 22 of the Appellant’s Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 22)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Adjustable Rate Rider and Loan Documents	R.p. 444-463
Assignment of Mortgage – Dec. 2, 2009	R.p. 511
Allonge Introduced at Deposition	R.p. 779

The following **Record on Appeal** page references correspond to the issues and sources cited beginning on **page 23 of the Appellant’s Final Brief**.

Referenced in Final Brief (Page 23)	Record on Appeal (ROA) Page(s)
Transcript of Hearing May 4, 2023	R.p. 334-335 Lines24-pgs 25 Line no 25
Sale of Appellant’s Property November 3, 2023	R.p.1-7

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THIS ACTION BARRED BY RES JUDICATA?
- 2) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT FORECLOSURE JUDGMENT WHEN CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE PROVED FRAUD, MISREPRESENTATION AND DECEPTION BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE AT THE HANDS OF RESPONDENT'S REPRESENTATIVES THROUGHOUT THESE PROCEEDINGS?
- 3) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY GRANTING RESPONDENT JUDGMENTS WHEN RESPONDENT NEVER PROVIDED ORIGINAL NOTE OR THE ORIGINAL MORTGAGE AS REQUIRED BY LAW WHEN EACH LAWSUIT WAS FILED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2006-5 NovaStar Home Equity Loan Asset-backed Certificates, Series 2006-5 brought this foreclosure action by and through the Finkel Law Firm against Terry Lennette Grant who was named as the Defendant (Hereinafter "Grant") on December 1, 2009¹ (See R.p. 378-386), by Callison, Tighe & Robinson, LLC on April 12, 2010² (See R.p. 367-375) and by Brock & Scott, PLLC on June 29, 2016³ (See R.p. 353-364). Grant answered by alleging Deutsche Bank National Trust Company's claim was precluded by "Order" in prior actions against Grant for the same cause of action. Foreclosure judgment granted to Respondent on May 28, 2014 (See R.p. 147-155)⁴ by Judge Marvin H. Dukes, III was dismissed and vacated along with all supplement judgments in this case on January 14, 2016 (See R.p. 376-377)⁵ by

¹ See ADOM: 1 & 2 Complaint and Summons dated December 1, 2009 C/A No.: 2009CP0705612 (R.p. 378-386)

² See ADOM: 9 & 10 Complaint and Summons dated April 12, 2010 C/A No.: 2010CP0701690 (R.p. 367-375)

³ See ADOM: 86 & 87 Complaint and Summons dated June 29, 2016 C/A No.: 2016CP07001466 (R.p. 353-364)

⁴ foreclosure judgment granted on May 28, 2014 and any supplemental judgments. (R.p. 147-155)

⁵ Case dismissed and vacated along with all supplement judgments in this case on January 14, 2016 (See R.p. 376-377) by and through the Order of Judge Marvin H. Dukes, III,

and through the Order of Judge Marvin H. Dukes, III, case which included a Judgment Order dated February 7, 2014 (See R.p. 175-186).

After Judge Dukes' recusal (See R.p.103-104), the Special Referee was appointed (See R.p.94-96) without a hearing or consideration of Grant's rejection and opposition (See R.p.704-731) to this Appointment. A hearing was scheduled by the Special Referee for May 4, 2023 (See R.p. 313-345)⁶ to hear all Motions, Plaintiff's and Defendants'. Grant was under medical care and she sent her Power Of Attorney in order not to delay the process. The Respondent and Special Referee denied Grant's Power of Attorney to make any statement nor present any information that was already submitted on the record. Grant's Power of Attorney offered to answer from all documents Grant has already prepared and submitted. The Special Referee stated that he will read everything (See R.p.338, Lines 5, 12-15)⁷ prior to making a ruling. The Special Referee continues to allow Burgess, Respondent's attorney of record to present their case.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Special Referee ordered both parties to prepare a proposed order. He requested to have proposed orders emailed to him within 30 days⁸. Grant and Burgess entered proposed orders by June 5, 2023 (See R.p.77-93)⁹ On June 12, 2023 the Special Referee signed the Respondent's proposed order. Then it was filed on June 28, 2023(See R.p. 54-76, 18-53)¹⁰ in the record. Grant filed a Motion to Reconsider Special Referee's decision on July 7, 2023 (See R.p.738-739); however, it was denied on September 1, 2023 (See R.p.11-17).

⁶ See ADOM:266: Transcript of hearing dated May 4, 2023 (R.p.313-345)

⁷ See ADOM:266: Transcript of hearing dated May 4, 2023 (R.p.338 Lines 5, 12-15)

⁸ See ADOM:266: Transcript of hearing dated May 4, 2023(R.p. 338 Line 5-24 ; R.p. 339 Lines 1-13)

⁹ See ADOM:267: Grant's Proposed Order filed on June 5, 2023 (R.p.77-93)

¹⁰ The Special Referee signed the Respondent's proposed order. Then it was filed on June 28, 2023(See R.p. 54-76, 18-53)

Grant sought dismissal of all claims, judgments and sale of her property based on the following: (1) Doctrine of Res Judicata , (2) Fraud, Misrepresentation and (3) Lack of Standing. Instead of reviewing the facts and evidence Grant submitted throughout this case since December 1, 2009 up to last filing from Grant, the Special Referee, appointed to 14th Circuit Court entered an order granting Plaintiff's/Respondent Motion for Summary Judgment, Foreclosure and Sale of Grant's .46 acre parcel with house at 226 Wild Horse Rd on Hilton Head Island, South Carolina 29926.

The Court denied Grant Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Reconsider decision (**See R.p.11-17**) Further Special Referee just signed every document prepared by Respondent as noted in the identifying, law firm's file, referenced by number B&S File Reference Number 15-22471 and 15-471 FC02. Grant filed her notice of appeal on September 5, 2023 (**See R.p.734-737**).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Substantial Evidence. Substantial evidence is "more than a mere scintilla. It means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 401 (1971).

2. Clearly Erroneous. "Review under the clearly erroneous standard is significantly deferential." Concrete Pipe and Prods. v. Construction Laborers Pension Trust, 508 U.S. 602, 623 (1993). The appellate court must accept the trial court's findings unless it's left with the "definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." Inwood Laboratories, Inc. v. Ives Laboratories, Inc., 456 U.S. 844, 855 (1982).

3. Abuse of Discretion. Under this standard, an appellate court will "uphold any

district court determination that falls within a permissible range of permissible conclusions.” *Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp.*, 496 U.S. 384, 400 (1990). Under this standard, the court of appeals must affirm unless it determines that “the district court has made a clear error of judgment, or has applied an incorrect legal standard.” *Alexander v. Fulton County*, 207 F.3d 1303, 1326 (11th Cir. 2000).

4. De Novo. The court gives no deference to the lower court’s decision and applies the same standard as the district court. *Whatley v. CNA Ins. Co.*, 189 F.3d 1310, 1313 (11th Cir. 1999).

5. When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which states that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 150-51, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004); see also *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 317, 592 S.E.2d 326, 330 (Ct. App. 2003) (stating all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party)

FACTS

On December 1, 2009 Respondent filed a lawsuit against Terry Lennette Grant without having attached Note or Mortgage as required by law. (See **R.p.378-386 C/A No.2009CP0705612**). Respondent filed this lawsuit on an alleged Note¹¹ and Mortgage dated

¹¹ See **ADOM:111** Exhibits enter the record by Respondents Alleged Note and Mortgage (**R.p.745-772**)

September 18, 2006. The Mortgage Respondent claim that was with GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc and Grant, has been assigned to Deutsche Bank. However, the Mortgage that Grant had with GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. was dated December 8, 2003 for \$398,000 and it was paid in full April 21, 2004 as evidenced by the release¹² in the amount of \$398,000 (**R.p. 483-485**), well before this Mortgage in 2006. Once Grant provided the release Respondent, then had an assignment of Mortgage created.

On December 2, 2009 Respondent had an assignment of mortgage created and filed on December 10, 2009. (**See R.p.511** Assignment of Mortgage)^{13,14}This assignment of mortgage has nothing to do with GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc and what Grant is being sued for, did not mention GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. The Lender was allegedly NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. on this September 18, 2006 document¹⁵. The Note allegedly signed on September 18, 2006 did not and does not have the original signature of Grant at a closing that allegedly took place on September 18, 2006. There is an email¹⁶ dated September 19, 2006 (**See R.p.472-473**) that clearly shows that a closing did not take place as Respondent claims.

On February 12, 2010 Respondent filed a Notice of Dismissal¹⁹, dismissing the case they filed on December 1, 2009. (**See R.p. 580 Public Index-** Notice of Dismissal)¹⁷ On April 12, 2010 Respondent filed a lawsuit against Terry Lennette Grant without having attached Note or

¹² **See ADOM:237**: Release of GreenPoint Mortgage for \$398,000 dated April 21, 2004 (**R.p. 483-485**) and **See ADOM:268** Satisfaction of Mortgage for Grant dated January 13, 2023 from GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. (**R.p.780**)

¹³ **See ADOM:244** Assignment of Mortgage dated December 2, 2009 filed December 10, 2009 after lawsuit was initiated (**R.p. 511**)

¹⁴ BAC Home 9 Loan Serv. v. McFerren, 2013-Ohio-3228 (9th Dist.)

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