RECEIVED

Sep 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin C.P. Sapp, Special Referee

Case No. 2023-001394

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee
for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust,
Series 2006-5 NovaStar Home Equity Loan
Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-5,

Respondent,

v.

Terry Lennette Grant,

Appellant,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Chad W. Burgess, Esq.
(S.C. Bar No.: 72520)
Brock & Scott, PLLC
3800 Fernandina Road, Suite 110
Columbia, South Carolina 29210
(803) 454-3540
Attorney for Respondent

Other parties:
Terry Lennette Grant
PO Box 21936

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

ARGUMENT

1. RES JUDICATA AS A BAR TO RESPONDENT’S ACTION WAS NOT PROPERLY PLED OR PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND THE DOCTRINE DOES NOT BAR RESPONDENT’S FORECLOSURE.

Appellant asserts that the Special Referee erred in “failing to find this action barred by res judicata”. (Appellant’s initial brief, P.2). Though referenced in her voluminous filings subsequent to her responsive pleadings in this action, Appellant has never pled the doctrine of res judicata as a bar to Respondent’s foreclosure. On June 13, 2018, Judge Dukes heard three motions filed by Appellant related to amendment of the pleadings. In his June 25, 2018, Order, Judge Dukes expressly allowed Appellant 15 days to amend her answer specifically to add the equitable defenses of laches and res judicata. (R. pp. 128-130). Despite being granted leave to do so,

Appellant never filed an amended answer asserting res judicata, thereby waiving the same as an affirmative defense.

A party, in replying to a preceding pleading, shall affirmatively set forth his defenses to the opposing party's complaint. Rule 8(c), SCRCPP. "Every defense, in law or fact, to a cause of action in any pleading ... shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto...." Rule 12(b), SCRCPP. Generally, affirmative defenses to a cause of action in any pleading must be asserted in a party's responsive pleading. *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007) (citing *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20–21, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct.App.2006)). Statutory prohibition is in the nature of an affirmative defense precluding enforcement of a contract and should be pled. *Costa and Sons Const. Co. v. Long*, 306 S.C. 465, 469, 412 S.E.2d 450, 453 (Ct.App.1991) (citing Rule 8(c), SCRCPP).

Madren v. Bradford, 378 S.C. 187, 192-193, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct.App.2008).

Because Appellant never pled res judicata as an affirmative defense to Respondent's foreclosure action, it was never ruled upon by the Special Referee. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

It is well settled that an issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion. *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Syst.*, 321 S.C. 340, 347, 468 S.E.2d 633, 637 (1996). Further, it is a litigant's duty to bring to the court's attention any perceived error, and the failure to do so amounts to a waiver of the alleged error. *Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 471, 141 S.E.2d 129, 134 (1965). Additionally, "[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). "There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed. 2002).

South Carolina Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301-302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007).

Even if Appellant had properly pled res judicata as an affirmative defense, and the issue preserved for appellate review – neither of which occurred – res judicata does not bar Respondent's

foreclosure as a matter of law. The Special Referee addressed res judicata and the “law of the case doctrine” in relation to Appellant’s unsupported assertions that she never entered into the subject loan transaction and that Respondent lacked standing to bring a foreclosure, ruling that these doctrines actually bar Appellant’s challenges as Judge Dukes’ February 7, 2014, Order was never appealed or vacated. (R. pp. 57-60)

Regarding res judicata, the Special Referee correctly noted:

16. “Res judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties. Under the doctrine of res judicata, “[a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” *Plum Creek Dec. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999) (internal citations omitted). See also *Richburg v. Baughman*, 290 S.C. 431, 351 S.E.2d 164 (1986) (under the doctrine of collateral estoppel, once final judgment has been reached in prior claim, relitigation of those issues actually and necessarily litigated and determined in the first suit are precluded in any subsequent action based upon a different claim).

(R. pp. 57-58). The 2010 foreclosure was ended by an Order that expressly vacated the May 28, 2014, Foreclosure Order, and dismissed the prior foreclosure **without prejudice**. (R. p. 143). Dismissal of the prior foreclosure “without prejudice” preserved Respondent’s ability to file a new foreclosure action in the future, which is the only logical outcome of the prior case because Appellant had an ongoing obligation to make the monthly payments due under the terms of the Note and Mortgage through the loan’s maturity in 2036. If Appellant failed to uphold that obligation, Respondent would be entitled to enforce the Note and Mortgage by a future foreclosure action – which is precisely what occurred. It is difficult to fathom how Appellant arrived at the conclusion that the vacated foreclosure judgment somehow prevents this action.

2. FRAUD WAS NOT PROPERLY PLED OR PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND APPELLANT’S LAST-DITCH ARGUMENTS REGARDING FRAUD DO NOT CREATE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.

Appellant’s brief suggests that Respondent, through counsel, has fraudulently misrepresented facts to the Court and committed fraud by creating and introducing false and fraudulent documents to the Court in the course the foreclosure action – and by doing so established that Respondent is the holder of the Note and Mortgage. Respondent and its counsel vehemently deny that any false or fraudulent facts or documents have been created or introduced, and this denial is supported by Appellant’s own pleadings and discovery responses. In her October 28, 2016, Answer, Appellant admits to signing the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 800, ¶4, 5). In the Proposed Amended Answer filed with the July 21, 2017 Appellant’s First Motion to Amend Answer, Appellant again admits to signing the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 808, ¶4, 5). In the December 7, 2017, Answer to Amended Complaint, Appellant again admits to signing the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 814, ¶4, 5). In the Proposed Amended Answer filed with the February 15, 2018 Appellant’s Second Motion to Amend Answer, Appellant again admits to signing the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 817, ¶4, 5). In Appellant’s Responses to Respondent’s Requests for Admissions dated April 10, 2017, Appellant again admits to signing the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 1083). Appellant’s prior counsel confirmed the veracity of these pleadings and discovery responses prepared and submitted on Appellant’s behalf. (R. pp. 220-230).

Although Appellant uses the word “fraud” in her voluminous filings, the nine elements of the cause of action for fraud and evidence to support those elements are nowhere to be found. Indeed, Appellant’s arguments regarding fraud are merely a last-ditch effort to avoid the inevitable outcome of foreclosure. Bare accusations, unsupported by any evidence, fall far short of creating a genuine issue of material fact. Rule 9(b), SCRCF, requires that “the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake **shall be stated with particularity.**” (emphasis added). “Fraud is not presumed,

but must be shown by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.” *Ardis v. Cox*, 314 S.C. 512, 515, 431 S.E.2d 267, 269 (Ct. App. 1993). While ample evidence of the existence and authenticity of the loan documents is provided by Appellant’s own admissions and bolstered by overwhelming evidentiary support found in the public record to establish that Appellant entered into the subject loan transaction, Appellant’s pleading of fraud and/or fraudulent misrepresentation pertaining to these documents and “... clear, cogent, and convincing evidence” of this fraud is utterly absent. (Id.). As stated above, “[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Appellant’s failure to plead fraud in her filings with the Court or to raise the issue at the hearing on Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment – which Appellant did not even attend – bars Appellant from raising the issue as a matter of first impression now. Furthermore, Appellant’s failure to raise fraud to the trial judge(s) means that neither Judge Dukes nor Judge Sapp has ever ruled upon this supposed fraud, and the issue is not preserved for appeal.

3. RESPONDENT IS THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST WITH STANDING TO BRING THIS FORECLOSURE.

Appellant challenges Respondent’s standing to bring this foreclosure action. As discussed earlier, the Special Referee correctly ruled that Appellant’s challenge to Respondent’s standing is barred by the doctrines of res judicata and “law of the case” based upon the February 7, 2014, Master’s Order which has never been appealed or vacated. (R. pp. 57-62). The Special Referee found that, “[t]he Master’s Order established: (1) that Grant, for value received, entered into the subject Note and Mortgage; (2) that Deutsche Bank was the present lienholder at the time the Order was entered thereby establishing standing to enforce the subject Note and Mortgage; (3) that

Deutsche Bank was entitled to judgment as to its causes of action for reformation of the mortgage based upon mutual mistake; and, (4) entitlement to an easement for the purposes of ingress and egress.” (R. pp. 56-57, ¶14).

Further, Respondent is the holder and has possession of the original Note, which bears both a stamp indorsing the Note to Respondent as well as an Allonge indorsing the Note to Respondent. Respondent is the holder and has possession of the original Mortgage, which has been assigned to Respondent by an assignment recorded in the Beaufort County Registry.

An assignee stands in the shoes of its assignor. *Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat’l Safe Corp.*, 335 S.C. 635, 639, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999); see also S.C. Code Ann. §36-3-203(b) (Supp. 2012) (Providing a transfer of an instrument vests in the transferee any rights the transferor had). “[T]he assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the mortgage” *Hahn v. Smith*, 157 S.C. 157, 167, 154 S.E. 112, 115 (1930); see also *Ballou v. Young*, 42 S.C. 1710, 176, 20 S.E. 84, 85 (1984) (“The Transfer of a note carries with it a mortgage given to secure payment of such note.”). *Id.* at 220. Thus, a holder of a note has standing as the real party in interest to bring a foreclosure action.

Respondent, through previous counsel, provided the original Note for the Court – and Appellant’s – inspection at the foreclosure hearing on May 28, 2014, and it bears the Court’s stamp. Respondent again provided the original Note to the Court at the August 3, 2021, hearing on Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment. Respondent also provided the original Note and Mortgage for the Court’s inspection at the May 4, 2023, hearing. The June 28, 2023, Special Referee’s Order of Foreclosure takes special care to acknowledge the significance of the possession of the original Note as it pertains to standing:

26. The Plaintiff produced the original Note for this Court’s inspection at the May 4, 2023 hearing. As evidenced by the stamps placed on the face of the

document, Plaintiff previously produced the Note for Judge Dukes' inspection in the 2010 Foreclosure Action on May 28, 2014 in conjunction with entry of foreclosure judgment in that case. The original Note was again produced for the Court's inspection in connection with a prior hearing in this action on August 3, 2021. On its face, the Note is a negotiable instrument as defined in S.C. Code Ann. §36-3-104. Plaintiff is the holder of the Note as defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-201 (b)(21)(A), formerly S.C. Code Ann. §36-1-201(20) as they are in possession of the negotiable instrument indorsed in blank. As the holder of the Note, Plaintiff is a "person entitled to enforce" the Note pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 as a matter of law.

27. Further, the Defendant lacks standing to challenge the transfer of the subject Note and Mortgage because she was not a party to said transfer. *In Re McFadden*, 471 BR 136 (2012); see also *Reese v. United States Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, No. 3:11-2990-CMC-SVH, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75652, at *8-9 (D.S.C. Apr. 30, 2012)("Plaintiff is only a party to the Mortgage and, because the Assignment is a separate contract to which Plaintiff is not a party, she cannot question its validity"); see also *Windsor Green Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 12, 605 S.E.2d 750 (Ct. App. 2004). ("Generally, one not in privity of contract with another cannot maintain an action against him for breach of contract.").

28. Based upon the foregoing, I find the Plaintiff has standing to bring the instant foreclosure action as a matter of law.

(R. p. 62). Respondent, as the holder of the specifically indorsed Note and assignee of the Mortgage, clearly has standing to bring the foreclosure action. Appellant's baseless arguments to the contrary fly in the face of well-established case law and statutory authority. There is no genuine issue of material fact related to Respondent's standing to bring this foreclosure and the Special Referee properly granted Respondent summary judgment as to this issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court.